IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALTER GRANT KYSER,

: AUG 6 3887

Appellant,

CASE NO. 69,736

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. MCLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLA. BAR #201170 POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32302 (904)488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, Walter Grant Kyser, will be referred to by name throughout this brief. References to the record on appeal will be designated with the prefix "R." Similar designations with the prefix "A" will be used for references to the appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1. Procedural Progress of the Case

On February 14, 1986, a Bay County grand jury returned an indictment charging Walter Grant Kyser with first degree murder for the shooting death of Deputy Floyd Milton Moore, Jr. (R 1233). Kyser proceeded to a jury trial on August 11, 1986 (R 1377). The Bay County jury found him guilty as charged (R 1409), and after hearing additional evidence, recommended a death sentence by a vote of eight to four (R 1420).

Circuit Judge W. Fred Turner adjudged Kyser guilty and sentenced him to death on November 4, 1986 (R 1047-1061, 1460-1469) (A 1-6). The court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) that Kyser committed the homicide during a burglary or while fleeing from the commission of a burglary; (2) that the homicide was committed to avoid arrest; and (3) that the homicide was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of a governmental function (R 1467) (A 3-4). The court found no mitigating circumstances (R 1468) (A 4-5). Motions for new trial filed by counsel and by Kyser pro se were denied on November 26, 1986 (R 1431, 1444, 1450, 1475, 1484).

Kyser timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court (R 1474).

2. <u>Facts-Guilt Phase</u>

Floyd Moore, Jr. was a sergeant with the Bay County Sheriff's Department and also worked part time as a security guard at the Turtle Lake Apartments where resided (R 721-723). He worked his security job on the night of January 27, 1986 (R 440-443). At 11 minutes after midnight on January 28, Deputy Jesse Clark heard a radio transmission from Moore to the Sheriff's Department requesting that a marked patrol car be dispatched to the apartment complex (R 440-443). Clark responded and arrived at apartments seven minutes after the dispatch (R 442). tried unsuccessfully to contact Moore via radio (R 443). Driving through the complex, Clark discovered Moore lying in the parking lot (R 443). He was unconscious and bleeding from a head wound (R 444). Moore wore a jacket with a sheriff's emblem and his cap with similar markings was nearby (R 443-444, 536-538). Moore's pistol was in his holster and his flashlight was in his back pocket (R sheriff's department walkie-talkie was on the ground still operating (R 443). Clark called for assistance and Moore was transported to Bay Memorial Medical Center (R 446, 535-536).

After surgery, Moore was pronounced dead (R 602). Dr. William Sybers performed an autopsy on January 29, 1986 (R 601). He concluded that Moore had suffered a gunshot wound through his head which instantly caused brain death (R 602-609). A .32 or .38 caliber bullet probably produced the wound (R 638-639). The projectile entered through the outer

portion of the left ear, traveled left to right at a slightly upward angle toward the front of the head and exited (R 605-609). There was soot present near the entrance wound, but no stippling, which lead Sybers to conclude that the shot was fired from a distance of one to six inches 611-613). According to Sybers, the wound was consistent with having been made by a wadcutter type bullet (R 613). Three small, C-shaped, metal fragments were recovered from the outside of the skull (R 606, 633). Sybers stated that as a soft lead bullet passes through bone, lead is sometimes sheared off (R 633). Tiny pieces of metal were also present along the bullet's path, but these were visible only in X-rays (R 635-637). Bleeding and swelling were present around the eyes which was the result of the internal force of the gunshot (R 603-604, 630). There was no external source for this injury (R 603-604). Finally, Sybers found a large bruise on Moore's right hip which was consistent with Moore having fallen onto the pavement (R 629).

Investigator Chuck Robinson examined the jacket Moore wore and discovered an Alabama driver's license inside (R 539-542). The license had been issued in the name "Edwin Allen Kyser" and bore a photograph of Appellant, Walter Grant Kyser (R 542-544, 548). Investigator Frank McKeithen learned from the local utilities company that electrical power was being provided to a Bay County residence under the name of Edwin Allen Kyser (R 548). McKeithen went to the Lynn Haven address and found a wooden duplex apartment with

a blue van parked near the door (R 548). There he met Tina Kyser and questioned her. Ultimately, she consented to the search of the residence and the van (R 550-555). From a gun rack in the bedroom, the investigators seized a .20 gauge shotgun and a .22 caliber rifle (R 557-558). They searched the apartment and van for a .38 caliber pistol but did not find one (R 558-559). In the bathroom, a wadded towel containing dark facial hair was found (R 559-560). Kyser had been wearing a beard (R 514). McKeithen obtained a description of Kyser and notified the Columbus, Georgia police department (R 550). Investigator W.E. Miller flew to Columbus and shortly after his arrival, that city's police department arrested Kyser (R 658-664).

Miller questioned Kyser at the Columbus Police Station (R 665). After giving a false name (R 662), Kyser admitted his real name (R 665). He said he had been using his brother's name and Alabama address (R 665). When asked about the shooting in Bay County, Kyser said he was scared (R 665). Miller asked him why he was scared and Kyser responded by asking, "|T]hat guy was a deputy sheriff, wasn't he?" Miller said, "Yes." (R 666) Kyser then stated that he had seen what happens to people in jail for such an offense (R 666). Miller asked what he meant (R 666). Kyser answered that he had spent time in prison in California for burglary charges and he did not think he could handle going back to prison.(R 666) Miller returned to Bay County the following day, January 29, 1986, with Kyser (R 667,714).

Miller introduced Kyser to Investigator McKeithen who continued to question Kyser about the shooting (R 714-730).

According to McKeithen, Kyser gave a statement admitting to the shooting (R 717-730). Kyser said that had installed carpet at the Turtle Lake Apartments in that sometimes storage rooms were left unpast and knew locked (R 717). He went to the apartments to steal items which he might find unsecured (R 717). As he walked along the breezeway in the U-building, Kyser said the officer approached him (R 717). Kyser recognized the man was a law enforcement officer because he wore an emblem on his cap or jacket (R 718). He also carried a walkie-talkie and said he had a gun (R 718). When asked, Kyser told the deputy that he had come to the apartments to visit someone in unit U-235 The deputy asked for Kyser's driver's license and (R 718). the two of them proceeded to apartment U-235 (R 718). one answered the deputy's knock (R 718). At that time, deputy called for a marked patrol car on his walkie-talkie, and the two of them began walking across the parking lot 718). Kyser said the deputy walked slightly in front of him and to his right (R 719). Kyser pulled the pistol carried in his right front pants pocket and swung it toward the officer (R 719-720). He intended to strike the in the neck and head area to stun him long enough to flee (R 719-720). However, the gun accidentally discharged, ing the deputy (R 719-720). Kyser told McKeithen he had spent time in prison in California where someone tried

kill him three different times (R 717). The fear of possibly returning to prison was on his mind when the deputy approached him that night at the apartments (R 717).

Richard Wyrick worked for Kyser as a carpet installer's helper in January 1986 (R 490-491). testified that during that month he purchased guns for Kyser on two occasions (R 494). Kyser told him that he could not purchase the guns because he had an Alabama driver's license and a Florida license was necessary to buy a firearm On January 10, 1986, Wyrick purchased a snubnose, 493). double action, .38 caliber revolver and a .20 gauge shotgun for Kyser at the Miracle Strip Pawn Shop (R 493-497, 520-521). Kyser was present and selected the guns (R 494). The shop owner also gave Wyrick five rounds of reloaded, wadcutter type, .38 caliber ammunition in order to test fire the pistol (R 497, 521). On January 15, Wyrick made a second purchase for Kyser at the same shop of a .22 caliber rifle (R 498-499, 522-523). At the same time, Kyser sold a .357 magnum pistol, which he had pawned at the shop the previous day, to the shop owner (R 522). Wyrick remembered a conversation during which Kyser said the .357 was too large for his wife to handle and he was buying the .38 for her (R 505-506). Later, the pawn shop owner's entire remaining supply of reloaded .38 ammunition was sent to the FBI laboratory for analysis (R 523, 565-571). The concluded that a portion of the wadcutter bullets in that supply of ammunition was of roughly the same chemical

composition as the three, C-shaped, metal fragments the medical examiner removed from Moore's head (R 677-706). He could not eliminate the wadcutter bullets as a possible source of the fragments (R 698).

3. Motion To Suppress Statements

Kyser moved to suppress the statements he allegedly made to Investigators Miller and McKeithen (R 1345-1346).
The circumstances surrounding the taking of the statements were developed at a pretrial evidentiary hearing (R 1097-1222). Testimony at the hearing established the following:

Αt approximately 6:45 p.m. on January 28, 1986, Officer Bill Mixon of the Columbus, Georgia Police Department, arrested Kyser in the parking lot of the Crystal Restaurant (R 1097-1100). Mixon handcuffed Kyser, placed him in the backseat of his patrol car and read him his Miranda rights (R 1099-1101). Mixon asked Kyser his identity and Kyser said his name was James Roberts from Tampa (R 1101). Kyser told Mixon that he had arrived in Columbus the previous night (R 1102). Detective R.T. Boren of the Columbus police department went to the scene of the arrest with Investigator Miller from the Bay County Sheriff's Department who had just arrived in Columbus (R 1113-1128). Boren spoke to Kyser briefly in the backseat of the patrol car (R 1114-1117). He told Kyser that he had a fugitive warrant for him and advised him of his rights (R 1114-1116). Kyser's only response was to state that his name was

Roberts, not Kyser (R 1116). A few minutes later, Miller also spoke to Kyser in the car and again advised him of his rights (R 1125-1126). Boren and Miller testified that Kyser did not ask for counsel during either of those conversations (R 1122-1123, 1127-1128). Kyser was then transported to the Columbus Police Station (R 1129).

Ryser's true identity (R 1132). He questioned Kyser on that subject inside a small interview room (R 1130-1135). After Kyser again asserted that his name was James Roberts, Boren confronted him with a photograph obtained from his residence and a similar one found when his vehicle was searched in Georgia (R 1131-1132). Kyser ultimately admitted that his real name was Walter Grant Kyser (R 1132-1135). At that time, Kyser expressed his fear that the Bay County officers would try to kill him (R 1133-1135). Boren left Kyser alone in the interview room and told Miller that Kyser had admitted to his true identity (R 1161-1164, 1166). Boren proceeded to another part of the station to complete the booking report and other paperwork (R 1163-1164). He was gone about 15 to 20 minutes.(R 1149, 1154).

During Boren's absence, Miller entered the interview room and questioned Kyser (R 1166). Miller reminded Kyser of his rights and asked if he wanted to talk about the shooting in Panama City (R 1167). Kyser said he was scared and asked if the victim was a deputy (R 1167). Miller answered that he was (R 1167). Kyser metioned that he had

been in trouble before and did not want to go back to jail (R 1168). They had some further conversation about the Bay County Jail (R 1168). Miller again asked Kyser if he wanted to talk about the shooting (R 1168). Kyser said, "Can we talk about something else, I think I want to talk to a lawyer before I talk about that and I hope you understand that." (R 1168) They had some discussion about Kyser's inability to eat or sleep because his conscience was bothering him and his fear of flying (R 1168). Kyser also stated that he would be willing to waive extradition (R 1168). Miller then left the interview room (R 1169).

Boren returned, Miller was talking on the telephone (R 1150). Boren did not talk to him and did not know that Miller had talked to Kyser during his absence (R 1149-1150). Boren did not know that Kyser had requested a lawyer (R 1149-1150). He proceeded to question Kyser about the shooting (R 1136-1137). According to Boren, Kyser was reluctant to talk about Florida at all (R 1145). However, Boren continued to talk to him for several hours and built a rapport with Kyser until he slowly started to talk about the incident (R 1145). Kyser first stated that another individwas involved, and he wanted to talk to his wife, Tina Kyser, before giving further information (R 1137). made a telephone call, and after about 45 minutes, Tina Kyser returned a call (R 1138). After talking to his wife, Kyser handed the telephone to Boren and said his wife would tell him the name of the second individual (R 1138). She

gave Boren the name Ricky Wyrick (R 1139). When told his wife's response, Kyser then related a version of the shooting which included Wyrick as the one pulling the trigger (R 1139-1142). Kyser later repeated the story in Miller's presence but no tape recording was made (R 1152-1153).

Miller transported Kyser to Bay County the next day (R 667). Upon their arrival, Miller introduced Kyser to Detective McKeithen, stating that the two of them were working together on the case and that McKeithen wanted to talk to him (R667-668, 716). Miller did not tell McKeithen that Kyser had asked for a lawyer (R 727). McKeithen advised Kyser of his rights and then asked Kyser exactly what happened during the shooting incident (R 717, 1171-1172). Kyser talked, ultimately giving the statement to which McKeithen testified at trial (R 717-720, 1173-1177). When asked to repeat the statement on tape, Kyser refused and again asked for a lawyer (R 729-730, 1173). McKeithen terminated the interview at that time (R 1173).

Kyser testified during the suppression hearing (R 1181). He stated that he asked for a lawyer from the first time Detective Boren talked to him at the police station in Columbus (R 1182-1183). When Miller entered the interview room, Kyser repeated his request for counsel (R 1183). Moreover, Kyser again asked for a lawyer when McKeithen first asked to talk to him in Bay County (R 1183-1185). Additionally, McKeithen threatened to arrest Kyser's wife and have his baby placed in foster care (R 1208-1214).

Kyser said he finally decided to relate the story blaming the shooting on Wyrick because of the telephone conversation with his wife while in Georgia (R 1219-1220). He said that he did not initiate any of the conversations with the detectives about the shooting incident (R 1221-1222).

The trial court denied the pretrial motion to suppress statements (R 1366) and overruled Kyser's continuing objections to the admission of the statements at trial (R 654-656). The court also denied Kyser's motion to prohibit the use of that portion of his statement where he mentioned his prior prison incarceration in California (R 640-656).

4. Jury Instructions--Guilt Phase

During the jury instruction charge conference, the State asked for a first degree felony murder instruction with burglary and escape as the underlying felonies (R 752-754). Kyser objected, arguing that there was insufficient evidence of a burglary or escape to justify the instruction (R 754-757, 806-824). The court disagreed and granted the State's request (R 806-824). Furthermore, the court denied Kyser's request that the standard jury instructions be used to advise the jury of the elements of the underlying felonies (R 806-824). The court chose to merely read the statutes on burglary and escape (R 806-824, 886-887). Finally, the court refused to instruct the jury on the elements of an attempt, even though the jury was told

that an attempted escape or an attempted burglary could provide the necessary underlying felony (R 807-824,886).

5. Seating The Alternate Juror

jury was sequestered at the beginning of the trial (R 377). On August 14, 1986, the jury returned a verdict of first degree murder (R 902-903). Court was adjourned until the afternoon of the following day when the penalty phase was to commence (R 903). After Judge Turner was home for the evening, the bailiff in charge of the telephoned him stating that Juror Robert Schlief needed to be released because his daughter had shot herself and was hospitalized (R 923). Schlief was the foreman of the jury (R 1409). Judge Turner telephoned the prosecutor and defense counsel and advised them of the situation (R 924). The court said the trial would continue because the alterjuror was available and still sequestered (R 924). Kyser objected to the seating of the alternate juror because she did not have the benefit of having deliberated on the verdict as did the remaining eleven (R 905-906). for a mistrial which the court denied (R 905-908). tively, Kyser asked the court to impanel a totally new to hear the penalty phase (R 905-908). After hearing arguments, the court denied the request (R 908-924). Alternate Juror Tanya Thurman was seated as a primary juror, and the court continued with the penalty phase of the case.

While the court and counsel discussed the alternate juror problem, the bailiff revealed that the remaining jurors were aware of the fact that Juror Schlief's daughter had shot herself in the head and was in critical condition (R 905, 924-926). He said one of the jurors, who was a nurse, called the hospital and obtained a report on the daughter's condition (R 925). Kyser moved for a mistrial on the ground that the jurors had violated sequestration (R 924-927). The court denied the motion (R 926-927).

Penalty Phase and Sentencing

The State presented no additional testimony at the penalty phase of the trial. However, the court did allow the prosecutor to introduce judgments for Kyser's prior convictions for burglary and grand theft (R 927-934). Kyser testified in his own behalf and introduced the testimony of a friend and a psychologist (R 937, 944, 997).

Kyser told the jury that his wife, Tina Kyser, actually shot Deputy Moore. He said that on the night of the homicide, he and his wife left their home looking for something to steal (R 946-949). His past practice as a thief was to drive or walk around at night looking for something unsecured to steal (R 947). Since his prior conviction for burglary, he did not burglarize anything; merely picked up items he might find (R 947). His wife would remain in the van while Kyser looked for items 948-949). They began their search after 10:00 p.m. on January 27, 1986 (R 948). After looking through the Heritage Apartments, they decided to try at the Turtle Lake Apartments before returning home (R 950). Kyser looked

through the back area of the complex and decided to quick look through the front (R 951). He parked his van across the street from the U-building (R 951). There were storage buildings in that part of the complex, and Kyser thought he might find one left open (R 952). As walked through the breezeway and downstairs, Deputy Moore approached him and asked him why he was there (R 952). Kyser told him he was there to visit someone, but the person was not home (R 952-953). Moore asked for identification and Kyser gave him a driver's license (R 953). checking the apartment where Kyser claimed to have been, Moore called for a marked patrol car on his walkie-talkie (R 954). Moore also asked to search Kyser and his van (R 954). Kyser agreed, since he did not carry a firearm on his person (R 954, 996). However, he did have a pistol in the glove compartment of his van (R 941). Moore frisked Kyser, and the two men began walking across the parking lot to the van 954-955). As they walked away from the parked cars, Kyser heard a gunshot (R 955). He turned around and saw his wife standing slightly to the left of Moore (R 955). held the .38 pistol in her hand (R 955, 981). She appeared frozen (R 955). Kyser put her in the van and they fled (R 955).

During his testimony, Kyser admitted that he had given two or more false stories to law enforcement (R 956). One version implicated Richard Wyrick and another his wife's stepbrother, Lee Dunbac (R 957-965). These stories were

PAGE(S) MISSING

developed with his wife's assistance (R 958-963). Kyser said he told these versions of the incident because he loved his wife and wanted to protect her from prosecution (R 965).

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