served in days late

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALTER GRANT KYSER,

Appellant,

v.

CLERK, SYNAME COURT By______ Case Number 69,736 Deputy Clerk

NOV: 16 1987

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY L. PRINTY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Walter Grant Kyser was the defendant below and will be referred to herein as "Appellant" or "Kyser". State of Florida was the prosecution below and will be referred to herein as the "Appellee" or "the State".

The record on appeal consists of eight volumes of trial transcript and two volumes of documenting instruments. All references to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" following by the appropriate page numbers in parenthesis.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I An equivocal request for counsel does not render the voluntary statements of appellant inadmissible where those statements are exculpatory and are not an admission of guilt.

II Circumstantial evidence which demonstrates that the defendant fired the fatal shot at close range using his own recently purchased firearm, then fled the jurisdiction and is inconsistent with suicide or accidental discharge constitutes substantial competent evidence sufficient to survive a motion for judgment of acquittal.

III A jury instruction which apprises the jury of the essential elements of an underlying felony is sufficient.

IV The seating of an alternate juror after the conclusion of the guilt phase did not prejudice the penalty proceedings where a majority of eight jurors voted for death.

V The sentencing order finds two aggravating factors and no mitigation. The death sentence is proper.

VI The shooting of a law enforcement officer to avoid arrest justifies imposition of the death sentence under proportionality review of similar police shootings.

VII A homicide involving one triggerman does not require a special instruction on whether the defendant killed the victim.

- 2 -

Moreover, absent a timely objection to the instructions given and a written request for an alternative instruction, this claim is barred from appellate review.

VIII The jury should be allowed to hear any and all evidence which sheds light on the character of the defendant. Prior convictions for burglary apprise the jury of the defendant's bad character which is in issue during a capital penalty proceeding.

IX The Florida Standard Jury Instructions do not cause the jury to undervalue its recommendation. Moreover, this alleged error was not preserved for appellate review.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATE-MENTS MADE DURING A CUSTODIAL INTERROGATION.

Appellant argues that his exculpatory statements made after advisement of his Miranda rights were improperly admitted because he indicated a desire to consult an attorney. <u>Edwards v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981).

The State would answer that this case is factual indistinguishable from <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 301 (Fla. 1983) where this court upheld the admission of a similarly situated capital defendant who argued that his equivocal statements-"I think I'd like to talk to my attorney before I say anything else" and "I think I'd like to talk to my attorney. Would you all come back tomorrow?" Were the same kind of explicit invocation of the right to deal with the police through counsel that was not "scrupulously honored" by the police in <u>Edwards</u>. This Court correctly distinguish <u>Edwards</u> from <u>Waterhouse</u> and the instant case noting:

> Unlike in <u>Edwards</u>, appellant never explicitedly stated that he did not want to talk to the police nor was he ever told that he was required to. Therefore the police did not act improperly in visiting appellant in questioning him further after his two

> > - 4 -

equivocal statements expressing possible interest in seeing an attorney.

<u>Id</u>. at 305. In <u>Edwards</u>, the defendant had explicitedly stated "I want an attorney before making a deal". 451 U.S. at 479. Likewise, in <u>Smith v. Illinios</u>, 469 U.S. 91, 105 S.Ct. 490, 83 L.Ed.2d 488 (1984) the Court held that a state court of appeals findings that the statement "uh yeah I'd like to do that" by the eighteen year-old defendant therein made to a police officer upon being advised he could have an attorney present during questioning constituted a invocation of the right to counsel which was sufficient to trigger the <u>Edwards</u>'s bright-line rule that all questioning must cease at that point.

Here the statement by Kyser to Officer W.E. Miller was identical to that in <u>Waterhouse</u>, "can we talk about something else. I think I want to talk to a lawyer before I talk about that and I hope you understand that." (R 1168). There is no objective distinction between this equivocal statement and the statements in <u>Waterhouse</u>. Admittedly one police officer could have construed this as a request for an attorney while another officer would come to a different conclusion. The trial counsel for appellant did not ask W.E. Miller if at the motion to suppress hearing if he considered this a request for counsel. (R 1169-1170). Miller did deny Kyser requested to speak with a lawyer. (R 664). The record of the hearing on the motion to

- 5 -

suppress and the order denying the same motion does not indicate whether the trial court found this statement to be an unequivocal request for counsel. Absent such an expressed finding by the trial court, the standard of review must now be whether a reasonable law enforcement officer would have or should have considered this statement an unequivocal request for counsel triggering the bright-line rule of <u>Edwards</u>. This Court's opinion in <u>Long v. State</u>, Case No. 67,103 (Fla. November 12, 1987) reaffirmed this Court's position in <u>Waterhouse</u> but held the confession inadmissible because the officers did not attempt to clarify the equivocal request for counsel and instead vigorously continued the interrogation. "I was pursuing the interrogation." <u>Long</u>, slip opinion at (p.3). Long made a full, explanatory confesion of Virginia Johnson's murder.

Here the first officer who heard the equivocal request for counsel did cease questioning Kyser and Deputy McKeithen ceased questioning Kyser after he renewed his equivocal request for counsel. Unlike the suspect in Long, Kyser never gave the officer's a full explanatory confession of murder. Instead he explained how the shooting was attributable to some one else or an accident. The case does not involve a confession so there is not need to question its voluntariness or admissibity.

This Court has already determined that the similar statement in <u>Waterhouse</u> did not rise to the level of unequivocal invocation

- 6 -

of the right to counsel sufficient to trigger the requirement of <u>Edwards</u> that all questioning seize. Of course, Kyser did not request all questioning seized. The crux of the matter was Kyser's desire to make a exculpatory statement that either another person did the shooting as indicated by his telephone conversation with his wife or to establish an explanation of exaccident. Kyser was a shrewd ex-con who by his own admission in the penalty phase was quite capable of munipulating situations to his benefit and avoid problems with law enforcement. (R 948). Kyser was not a scared and confused teenager as was the suspect interrogated in <u>Smith v. Illinois</u>.

The trial court below suggested that the phone call to Kyser's wife and the subsequent statements may have satisfied the <u>Edwards</u> rule that the questioning must cease unless the suspect initiates further conversation. Once again, absent an express finding by the trial court, this Court must objectively review the record and determine for itself whether or not Kyser explicitedly invoked his right to counsel and if yes, did he initiate further discussion by seeking to blame Ricky Wyrick for the killing. (R 1158).

Absent an express finding by this Court that the statement did adequately invoke the right to counsel, the statements were clearly admissible. However, even inspite of this finding, if the court finds the request unequivocal, the statements were

- 7 -

admissible because Kyser initiated contact to explain the presence of Ricky Wyrick at the shooting. The testimony at the motion to suppress hearing and at trial reveals that Officer McKeithen did readvise Kyser of his miranda rights from a written form and Kyser did not assert any right to counsel until McKeithen asked for a taped statement. The questioning then ceased. (R 1178) (R 730). See <u>Connecticut v. Barret</u>, 479 U.S. ____, 93 L.Ed.2d 920, 107 S.Ct. ____ (1987).

The trial court did not err in admitting the statements made after the "equivocal" request for counsel and there was no failure of law enforcement officers to "scrupulously honor" the Appellant's Miranda rights. <u>Michigan v. Jackson</u>, 475 U.S. 625, 89 L.Ed.2d 631, 106 S.Ct. 1406 (1986) has no application to a Fifth Amendment pre-arraignment custodial interrogation. <u>Jackson</u> clearly involves the Sixth Amendment right to counsel which attaches after official criminal proceedings have been initiated against the defendant. The record reveals that Kyser was advised of his Miranda rights and testified that he was aware of his rights. (R 1191-92).

Moreover, the statements were exculpatory in nature if believed, intended to establish Kyser's defense at trial and not rebutted. It was the testimony of the medical examiner, Dr. Sybers, which established at the circumstances of the killing were sufficient to prove first degree murder. Therefore, any error in the admission of the testimony was harmless.

- 8 -

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING KYSER'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUIT-TAL SINCE THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO REBUT ANY REASONABLE HYPOTHESIS OF INNOCENCE.

The evidence presented by Dr. Sybers, a forensic pathologist, showed there were no bruises to the victim's neck, head, or shoulders consistent with being hit by handgun. (R 605). The wound was not a contact wound where a suicidal person presses a weapon to his head and pulls the trigger. (R 611). The shot was fired one to six inches from the victim's left ear. (R 613). The shooting was inconsistent with being struck with the gun or accidential discharge causing the death. (R 614). This evidence contradicted the defendant's statement to Officer McKeithen that Kyser swung the gun, struck Moore only to have the gun accidently discharge. An admission by a defendant to facts which are sufficiently at odds with the circumstantial evidence surrounding the death are sufficient in to show of guilt. See Buenoano v. State, 478 So.2d 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Moreover, Deputy Moore, the victim, was wearing his Deputy Sheriff's cap and jacket and was known to be a deputy sheriff by Kyser as revealed in his statement to Officer Miller that was admissible even under the arguments of counsel presented in Issue I. Kyser's behavior after the shooting was also introduced as evidence of guilty knowledge. See Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9, 21 (Fla. 1985) where this Court approved admission of evidence of flight to prove

- 9 -

guilty knowledge. The evidence of flight in this case was telling as (1) Kyser was aware that he had shot and probably killed a law enforcement officer, (2) there was clear evidence of flight including shaving his beard, disposing of the firearm and leaving the State and (3) there was no delay from the commission of the crime to the time of flight. The only reasonable interpretation of Kyser's action immediately prior to and after the shooting was that he killed Officer Moore to avoid being arrested. The jury could have found premeditated murder based on the circumstances of the killing including the accuracy of the shot to the head, the type of bullets and weapon used, and Kyser's own statement that he did not want to return to prison. (R 666). See Griffin v. State, 474 So.2d 777 (Fla. 1985) where this Court unanimously held that premeditation may be found from the circumstances of a shooting may demonstrate sufficient evidence to support a finding of premeditation where the bullets were designed for high penetration ability, the victim had no reaction prior to the shooting and the location of the wound indicates the shot was fired at close range and thus unlikely to have struck the victim accidentially. Id. at 780. Kyser's reliance on Hall v. State, 403 So.2d 1318 (Fla. 1981) is misplaced because the State presented the testimony of Dr. Syber to refute his accidential discharge theory. This case is clearly governed by Buenoano as the State presented contrary evidence which the jury could and did chose to believe.

- 10 -

Kyser also argues that there is no evidence of felony murder even though the State proceeded under three possible enumerated underlined felonies, escape, burglarly and attempted burglarly.

The State's case as to escape established that Deputy Moore was wearing his sheriff's cap and radio and had obtained Kyser's driver's license and radioed for a marked patrol unit to be sent to the Turtle Lake Apartments clearly establishing that Deputy Moore had (1) a purpose or intention to affect an arrest under his apparent authority in the offices of the sheriff's department, (2) the actual or constructive detention of Kyser, (3) an inference that a communication between Moore and Kyser as to the officer's intent to arrest were continually detention; (4) Kyser's admissions established the fact that he understood himself to be the subject to an arrest by Moore and the soon to arrive patrol unit. See <u>Melton v. State</u>, 75 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1954).

It would be an absurdity to conclude that Kyser did not kill Moore to escape custody as Moore had a right to legal custody of Kyser and Kyser shot Moore as a conscious and intentional act to leave the established area of custody. <u>State v. Ramsey</u>, 475 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1985). See also <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1986).

The evidence of burglary or especially attempted burglary was sufficient to show the two essential elements of a specific

- 11 -

intent to commit the crime (Kyser was there to burglar) and he was caught by Deputy Moore which constitutes the interference or some other explanation for Kyser's failure to complete the act. Adam v. Murphy, 394 So.2d 411, 413 (Fla. 1981).

.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON A FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER WHERE THERE WAS SUF-FICIENT EVIDENCE OF THE UNDERLINED FELONIES IN THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN ADEQUATELY DEFIND THE ALLEGED FELONIES.

The trial court instructed the jury on the underlined felonies, burglary and escape:

Burglary, as I have used it here means entering or remaining in a structure or conveyance with the intent to commit an offense therein, unless the premises are the time opened to the public where the defendant is licensed or invited to enter or remain. Escape means any prisoner confined in any prison, jail, road camp, or other penal institution, state, county, or municipal, working upon the public roads, or being transported to or from a place of confinement who escapes or attempts to escape from such confinement shall be guilty of escape.

(R 886-887).

This is no different than the instructions given in <u>Vasil v.</u> <u>State</u>, 374 U.S. 465 (Fla. 1979) and it cannot be said that the jury was not "apprised of the essential elements of the underline felony". McCrae v. Wainwright, 422 So.2d 826-827 (Fla. 1982).

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO DECLARE A MISTRIAL AND IMPANEL A NEW JURY AFTER THE FOREMAN OF THE JURY WAS EXCUSED FROM SERVICE BECAUSE OF HIS DAUGHTER'S ATTEMPTED SUICIDE.

After the jury reached its guilty verdict the foreman of the jury, Mr. Schlief, was advised that his daughter had attempted suicide. (R 923). The jury was concerned and one jury, a nurse, actually called the hospital to check on the daughter's condition. (R 924-925). Apparently the juror, did not call Mr. Schlief. The trial court placed the alternate juror on the panel and the penalty phase proceeding took place and the jury voted 8 to 4 to recommended death. (R 1044).

Presence of an alternate juror who had not participated in the guilt phase of the trial should be deemed harmless if in fact error at all and definately not fundamental error as the vote for death was more than the simple majority required.

Kyser argues contradictory positions for a view that the trial court should have declared a mistrial and impaneled a new jury for the penalty proceeding. He first argues that the alternate juror, Ms. Thurman should not be allowed to participate because she was not involved in the guilt phase. He next argues that Kyser was entitled to an entire panel of twelve new jurors who had not participated in the guilt proceedings to cure the taint of the jurors knowledge of attempted suicide.

- 14 -

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